#### IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION

Date and Time:- Tuesday 17 September 2024 at 10.00 a.m.

Venue:- Rotherham Town Hall, The Crofts, Moorgate Street,

Rotherham. S60 2TH

Membership:- Councillors Pitchley (Chair), Knight (Vice-Chair),

Baggaley, Blackham, Bower, Brent, T. Collingham, Elliott, Fisher, Foster, N Harper, Hughes, Monk, Reynolds, Ryalls

and Sutton.

This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view <u>via the Council's website</u>. The items which will be discussed are described on the agenda below and there are reports attached which give more details.

Rotherham Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should inform the Chair or Governance Advisor of their intentions prior to the meeting.

#### **AGENDA**

#### 1. Apologies for Absence

To receive the apologies of any Member who is unable to attend the meeting.

## 2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 16)

To consider and approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 July 2024, as a true and correct record of the proceedings and to be signed by the Chair.

#### 3. Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations of interest from Members in respect of items listed on the agenda.

#### 4. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during consideration of any part of the agenda.

#### 5. Questions from Members of the Public and the Press

To receive questions relating to items of business on the agenda from members of the public or press who are present at the meeting.

## 6. Corporate Parenting Partnership Board Update

To receive a verbal update from the Vice-Chair on the recent Corporate Parenting Partnership Board meeting.

## 7. Ofsted Focused Visit Outcome (Pages 17 - 21)

The agenda item will provide an overview of the outcomes from the Ofsted Focused Visit to Rotherham Children's and Young People's Services on the 14-15 May 2024.

#### 8. Work Programme (Pages 23 - 25)

To consider and approve the Commission's Work Programme.

## 9. Improving Lives Select Commission - Sub and Project Group Updates

For the Chair/Project Group Leads to provide an update on the activity regarding sub and project groups of the Improving Lives Select Commission.

## 10. Urgent Business

To consider any item(s) the Chair is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.

The next meeting of the Improving Lives Select Commission will be held on Tuesday 29 October 2024 commencing at 10.00 a.m. in Rotherham Town Hall.

SHARON KEMP OBE, Chief Executive.

Spea Komp.

## IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION Tuesday 30 July 2024

Present:- Councillor Pitchley (in the Chair); Councillors Knight, Baggaley, Blackham, Bower, Brent, T. Collingham, Fisher, Foster, N Harper, Monk and Sutton.

Apologies for Absence:- Apologies were received from Councillors Elliott, Hughes, Reynolds and Ryalls.

The webcast of the Council Meeting can be viewed at: <a href="https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home">https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home</a>

#### 14. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

**Resolved:-** That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Improving Lives Select Commission, held on 18<sup>th</sup> June 2024, be approved as a correct record of proceedings for signature by the Chair.

#### 15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest to report.

### 16. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

There were no items of business on the agenda that required the exclusion of the press and public from the meeting.

#### 17. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS

There were no questions from members of the public or press.

# 18. CHILDREN'S AND YOUNG PEOPLES SERVICE YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT

This item provided an update on the performance outturn for the reporting year of April 2023 to March 2024, for Children and Young People's Services.

The Chair invited Councillor Cusworth to introduce the report and the following was noted:

- Councillor Cusworth in introducing the report paid tribute to the emergency services who had responded to the tragic events in Southport where three children had unfortunately lost their lives. This incident had left everyone shocked and stunned with what had taken place.
- The report that formed part of the agenda pack highlighted areas that were working well and others that were presenting more of a challenge especially around the numbers of looked after children

coming into care. Whilst the numbers had slightly reduced the figure remained around the five hundred mark. In terms of numbers requiring child protection and child in need support, whilst also reducing in number, remained challenging ensuring assessments were undertaken in a timely manner.

 The Commission had also looked at Elective Home Education previously and this would need to be monitored as numbers were rising.

The Chair invited Anne Hawke, Head of Service for Performance and Quality, to provide an overview by way of a presentation on the Performance Report 2023/24 Outturn, particularly highlighting:

- Performance was considered against local targets, including associated 'RAG' (red, amber, green) rating tolerances. Reviewed annually and set in consideration of available national and statistical neighbour benchmarking data and recent performance levels. It ensured focus on the effectiveness of services and achieving good outcomes for children and young people.
- Robust governance and accountability was in place, including monthly Performance Board and Quarterly Assurance Board in addition to service level performance clinics, Practice Learning Days and Quality Assurance processes.
- Links to the Council Plan, Year Ahead Delivery Plan, Corporate Parenting Partnership Board, Place Board.
- The Scorecard was circulated quarterly to Members of Improving Lives Select Commission, with an option to request officers to attend with any key areas of interest.

#### Breakdown of Measures and Indicators:

- There were 75 performance measures across the service:
  - 22 where performance was benchmarked against national, regional and statistical comparators (Benchmark).
  - 35 focusing on specific activities and/or demand (Activity).
  - 18 for Education; all of which were either termly or annual academic year and therefore not included in any summary statistics.
- Some of the measures have multiple components, 53 measures have targets set and 66 measure components have a 'good' direction of travel (DOT) identified.

Performance Measures 2023/2024 Graphical Progress Summary:

- Early Help and Family Engagement what was working well:
  - Journey for families when engaging with an Early Help offer of support remained strong, with 91.3% of families contacted within three working days of allocation, an improvement on last year and significantly above the target of 75%.

- Continued with 90.1% of Early Help Assessments being completed within 45 days during the year (2.5% more than last year).
- 27.5% of Early Help Assessments (EHA) were completed by partners during the year, a pleasing increase of 1.9% from last year and continued to meet the ambition of ensuring that appropriate help and support was provided at the earliest opportunity helping families to build resilience and prevent escalation.
- 94.5% of children aged 0-5 living in the 30% most deprived areas were registered with one of our children's centres. This was an improvement of 2.5% from last year when performance reached 92%.
- Those in the 30% most deprived areas accessing Children Centre activities increased from 78% to 80.6%.
- Tracking the number of young people who were Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) during the whole year, however, the statutory measurement was an average calculated over a three-month period annually between December and February. Out-turn for the year was a pleasing 4.3%, within the 4.5% target (lower was better) and an improvement from last year.
- The number of young people whose NEET status was Not Known (NK) was also significantly improved on the previous year at 0.64%.
- Combined NEET/NK performance ended on 4.95% which was well within the 6% target and an improvement on the previous year.
- The rate of young people who reoffended had reduced when compared with the last available data from 19.8 to 16.1 per 100k population, which evidenced the work that the Rotherham Youth Justice Service was doing improved outcomes for young people and victims of crime. This was significantly lower than the national average rate of 32.1.
- Early Help and Family Engagement Impact:
  - Families experienced swift engagement from Early Help both in their initial contact and during their Assessment period. This meant many families received the right support at the right time, preventing further escalation.
  - Engaging children in Children's Centres reduced inequalities between families in greatest need with their peers. Outcomes for these families included improved child development, school readiness, parenting aspirations, and skills.
  - The help and support provided by the Early Help and Family Engagement Service, the wider Early Help System (universal services and partner agencies) and the Youth Justice Service was offered early, improved

outcomes for children, young people and their families, increasing resilience and where appropriate, prevents escalation to Childrens Social Care.

- Early Help and Family Engagement Areas for Continued Focus:
  - The data used to track, monitor and measure young people who were supported by the Rotherham Youth Justice Service was subject to national benchmarking. There was a significant data lag with this information and the latest data indicated First Time Entrant rate had increased during the period to 186 per 100k per population, when compared with 170 in the previous period and was slightly higher than statistical neighbours.
  - There was lots of work ongoing with partners to focus on prevention activity, including targeted programmes like Be Share Aware and a Hate Crime programme. The Turnaround programme (funded project) had been implemented which provides Youth Justice Service with additional support for both young people and their families at an early opportunity.
- Children's Social Care What was working well:
  - Continued to ensure a safe and steady decline in numbers of Children in Need, Children on a Child Protection Plan and Children in Care.
  - Child in Need (CiN) 316.8 rate per 10k population, reduced from 378.6 in 2022/2023.
  - Child Protection Plans (CPP) 45.6 rate per 10k population, reduced from 70.4 in 2022/2023.
  - Children in Care (CiC) 88.4 rate per 10k population, reduced from 96.7 in 2022/2023.
- A continuation to support the National Transfer Scheme for Separated Migrant Children (formerly known as Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children). CiC cohort included 39/502 at the end of March 24. Calculations without the 39 would see the rate of Children in Care drop to 80.9 per 10k population.
- Young people supported by the Leaving Care service increased during 2023/2024 to 348 from 319. 45 of those young people were Separated Migrant Children.
- A peak was experienced in the number of re-referrals during the year. This was managed through performance clinics and focussed work was carried out to improve this resulting in significant improvements during Q4 achieving an out-turn in-line with the previous year (17.3%) which was well within the target of below 22%.
- S47's per 10k population continued to safely reduce during the year, ending the year at 194.8 (278.2 last year) which is just above the national average of 191.6.
- 95% of Children (with a CPP) had an up-to date Child Protection

- Plan at the end of Q4, which was an improvement when compared with last year (88.7%) and met the target of 95%.
- Both Adoption measures count the number of days between various milestones in the process. Last year an improvement was seen across both. The cohort of children on an adoption plan was quite small, outliers could inflate the overall averages:-
  - Average number of days between a child coming into care and being placed with their prospective adopters – 387.2 (significant improvement on last year when the figure was 492.5).
  - Average number of days between a placement order being granted and a child matched to an adoptive family
     182.6 (improvement on 197.4 last year)

### • Children's Social Care - Impact:

- Reducing the number of re-referrals indicates that decision making and planning was robust and accurate and meant that when a child ceased to need our support, families have the resilience they needed to maintain positive outcomes.
- Maintained overall caseload numbers, ensuring work with children and their families was not longer than needed and focus could be given to those families most in need.
- The safe and steady reduction of all cohorts evidenced that children, young people and their families experienced successful outcomes, build resilience and remain safe.

#### Children's Social Care – Areas for Continued Focus:

- The percentage of contacts with a decision within one working day declined this year from 72.1% to 69.3. New monitoring processes were being developed to monitor MASH information sharing contacts separately to give deeper understanding of where delays were in returning the information. This would help to focus in on the cases that have a real delay, in turn improving timeliness through service improvement and working with partners.
- O If a child progressed from a S47 investigation to an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC), there was a timeliness measure in place to ensure rapid intervention. The target was to hold the ICPC within 15 days of the S47. Last year 84.8% were completed within the timescale, below the target of 90% but in-line or better than comparators. A new process was in place which would continue to improve performance.
- Planning for children and young people was critical to ensure they were supported and working towards improving their outcomes. This was the same for CiN, CPP and CiC cohorts and included ensuring that plans were up-to-date,

reviewed within timescales and that plans were ceased at the earliest and safest opportunity, whether that was via a step down or re-unification. During the last year, some of the measures used to track this information have not met their targets. Efforts would continue to focus on improvements across these areas.

- The percentage of long-term children in care in stable placements of more than two years had remained the same as last year at 65.2% and below the target of 70%.
- Work would continue on the placements sufficiency strategy to recruit more in-house foster carers, open residential provision and develop more homes for care leavers within Rotherham with a commitment to improve stability of placements that we are closer to home.
- 75.3% of children were in family-based settings compared to 77% last year.

## • Education – What was working well:

- At the end of Term 2, 90.9% of 2-year-olds were taking up an education place, an improvement on 90% at outturn last year and exceeding the target of 85%. This was the highest level of take up achieved in Spring terms previously.
- An important issue for children and their families was being allocated one of their three top preferred school places. 99.2% of primary children were allocated one of their three preferences on National Offer Day in 2024, slightly higher than in 2023.
- 97.4% of secondary children were allocated one of their three preferences on National Offer Day in 2024, which was also an improvement on the 96% achieved in 2023.
- Attainment outturn for the 2022/2023 academic outturn showed that more pupils in the Early Years Foundation Stage achieved a good level of development at 67.3% when compared to 64.5% the previous year.
- The was also an increase in the number of pupils passing their phonics screening in Year 1, with 79% compared with 75% in 2021/2022.
- In KS2, 55% of pupils met the expected standard with 5% achieving the higher standard for reading, writing and maths. This showed a pleasing 1% improvement with 2021/2022.
- All children in care should have an up-to-date Personal Education Plan (PEP) each term. After a slight delay (due to Easter school holidays) in recording, performance data indicated that 99.7% of children had an up-to-date plan during term 2 against a target of 95%.

### • Education – Impact

- O Collaborative work across the service and wider directorate had resulted in more of vulnerable 2-year-old children having taken up an early education place, improving the overall uptake. This was important in respect of giving children the best start in life impacting their future education, and overall potential involvement with the remaining CYPS services.
- A preferred education setting was important for both children and their families in their everyday lives. It was positive that this had improved and remained above targets for both primary and secondary preference performance.
- All of the above helped children achieve and this was evidenced in the increased number of pupils in Early Years, Foundation and KS2 achieving good levels of development.

#### Education – Areas for Continued Focus:

- At the end of term 2 there were 523 children Elective Home Educated (EHE), which was another significant increase on the 435 at the end of term 2 last year. The rise in EHE in Rotherham was part of a national increase and the total numbers were in line with the national average. Focus remained on ensuring families were supported who chose to educate children at home, and to understand the reasons for parents making EHE decisions. Focus would continue on early intervention to prevent children from becoming EHE and the enforcement pathway had been enhanced for children where EHE was deemed unsuitable.
- At the end of term 2 there had been 11 permanent exclusions in primary schools and 73 in secondary schools. This was an increase on the same period last year with 6 and 60 respectively. Rising exclusions was a national issue. The exclusion team continued to support schools wherever possible and updated guidance had been produced, webinars introduced and the Secondary Inclusion Panel across the borough was being realigned. Re-alignment of exclusions officers' work had led to greater challenge and support to schools to promote alternatives to exclusion.
- The number of KS4 pupils achieving a grade 5 or above in English and Maths reduced to 38.7% when compared with 44.7% the previous year. The Rotherham Loves Reading and Disadvantaged Pupils projects continued which helped to provide support and drive attainment.
- Inclusion What was working well:

- The Education, Health and Care Plan target was measured across the calendar year from January to December. Performance against this important timeliness measure increased to 59.9% in 2023. This was above target of 58% and an increase on the previous year. However, there would be continued focus on this improving measure and indications on the first half of 2024 were positive with performance at 75.6% at the end of June.
- For children and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), both Primary and Secondary Transition Reviews were important indicators evidenced children were being supported at such important milestones in their school life. On statutory deadline dates 95.8% of primary reviews had been completed and 79.1% of secondary reviews, both exceeding their targets of 70%.

## • Inclusion - Impact:

- The increase in EHCP assessments being issued within the 20-week timescale meant that more children with SEND were being supported in a timely manner and receiving the right levels of support that they need.
- Transition reviews being completed by the deadline would help children move between schools more easily, with the right support available to them.

#### Inclusion – Areas for Continued Focus:

- There was another increase in children with an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) during the year, with 3360 at the end of March 2024 compared to 3056 at the end of March 2023.
- Although an improving picture, the timeliness of EHCP's remained an area of continued focus.

The Chair thanked officers for their presentation and their input.

A discussion and a question/answer session ensued and the following issues were raised and clarified:

- Learning through best practice for exclusions and the support now in place with the realignment of the secondary inclusion into locality partnerships, to share good practice between schools and to offer some mutual support and challenge where children were at risk of exclusion.
- Visits to schools by the Cabinet Member and assurances of oversight on performance and early identification of need.
- The rate of re-offending for first time offenders and how the numbers identified were calculated. The intensity of the work in this area was already capturing the voice of young people that have been involved in that system through the Trans Group.

- Evolvement of the Children and People's Partnership Board to give young people a voice back into the executive decision makers with partners.
- Pressure on primary schools to improve in KS2 and having the right resources in the right place to make sure children have an enjoyable education.
- The direct correlation between SATS at KS2 and GCSE and how well children progress making sure that both gifted and those with SEND reach their full potential.
- Links with children's centres and working with partners through the family hub projects to make sure children were ready and able to learn and engage and what was the age range of use if this could be provided.
- With the increase in elective home education and exclusions what was available in the borough in terms of youth open access and how many social workers were also trained as youth workers.
- Commissioning of the voluntary and community sector to provide support across the borough and the investment through apprenticeships in the universal youth offer following the closure of youth centres by the previous Government.
- Current rate of Elective Home Education with Rotherham sitting below the regional and national rates.
- Encouraging involvement of Elected Members in local education.
- Funding lost from the Council budget during austerity for youth work and the need for greater partnership working with multiacademy trusts. There was a clear need to recognise the importance of youth work and for a collaboration on what was available and could be offered either by the voluntary and community sectors, within wards and in partnership with parish councils.
- The number of pressures on the health and dental check timeliness and how for dental how this was well below the 95% target. What were the challenges the service was facing and how could these children engage with their health and dental assessments.
- The lag in the data and problems in registering young people with a dentist.
- Ongoing concerns about Elective Home Education and the rising figures of 523, but what were the reasons for electing to educate at home and how was this being tackled.
- The scorecard and the various elements within it and how some areas did not have targets set against the measure.
- Benchmarking on the scorecard and how useful it would be to know who the statistical neighbouring authorities were.
- Use of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 data and for this to be broken down into cohorts of say elective home education and SEND and fair representation across the board.
- Post 16 learning and examples of suitable for progression to build on a skilled workforce locally.
- Involvement of the Council in grant funding from the Violence

Reduction Unit through the Combined Authority Elected Mayor's Office and consultation on local priorities in Rotherham.

The Chair acknowledged the level of information shared today and in doing so wished to place on record her thanks and appreciation to attending officers and to Elected Members on the level of questioning and the detail provided.

**Resolved:-** That the Improving Lives Select Commission:

- 1) Accept the CYPS Annual Performance Report and accompanying scorecard for the outturn 2023/2024.
- 2) Request that the data relating to the age range for the use of Family Hubs be circulated to members.

# 19. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION LEAVING CARE PEER CHALLENGE FEEDBACK REPORT

This item provided an update on the outcome of the Local Government Association (LGA) Leaving Care Peer Challenge and the Feedback Report, that was received as a result of the Peer Challenge.

The Chair invited Councillor Cusworth, Cabinet Member for Children's and Young Peoples Services (CYPS) to introduce the report and the following was noted:

- The Care Leavers Service was an area that required further focus and improvement.
- There had been an increase in care leavers, this was due to an increase in unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) in the borough, who were very welcome in Rotherham.
- The service asked the LGA to peer review the leaving care service to identify any areas of strength and any areas that required further improvement. The peer review took place between 12-15 March 2024.
- Work was completed since the peer review in March, to date. An example was provided of the development of a Care Leavers Forum. There was an action plan in place as a result of the Peer Challenge.
- Some local authorities declared care leavers as a protected characteristic. The Council chose not to implement this in Rotherham, to ensure children would not be discriminated against in any way because they were leaving care. The service listened to the voice of care leavers who advised that they did not want leaving care to be a protected characteristic. Instead, the service developed a Care Leaver Offer. The offer ensured that the support in place for children leaving care would continue by preparing them for adulthood, providing opportunities for children to reach their full potential, providing wrap around support for housing and access to

skills and opportunities.

The Chair invited Monica Green, Assistant Director for CYPS to lead on the presentation and the following was noted:

- The Council had been judged by Ofsted as a Good local authority in an Ofsted Inspection in June 2022.
- In January 2023, a new judgement for Care Leavers was introduced to the Ofsted ILACS inspection framework, this was the experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers. The new judgement focused on the things that mattered the most to care leavers lives and included the following:
  - Relationships and access to social and recreational opportunities.
  - ability to influence the services they are offered.
  - health and emotional well-being.
  - o learning and employment opportunities.
- Inspections also considered whether local authorities were making good decisions for care leavers, and what they were doing to support them into adulthood.
- The LGA Peer Review took place between 12th to 15th March 2024. A care leaver was a young person aged 16-25 years old who had been 'looked after' at some point since they were 14 years old and were in care on or after their 16th birthday. The service invited the LGA to complete a peer review as they felt that there were challenges in the level in demand and diversity of the group of young children becoming care leavers. The cohort consisted of migrant children from abroad and from Eastern Europe, the service wanted experts from outstanding local authorities to judge the service, to assist its journey in becoming an outstanding local authority. The scope of the review incorporated off-site and on-site activity, including case file auditing and interviews with staff, partners and young people.
- The key messages from the peer challenge were as follows:
  - A clear commitment of senior leaders and staff in children's services and local health and accommodation services.
  - A high level of passion and determination to meet the needs and improve outcomes for care leavers.
  - Services made a real difference to the lived experience of care leavers.
  - Performance measured against national indicators and were generally high.
  - Some variability in quality and consistency of pathways plans.
  - The range of accommodation services needed for care leavers in the borough was insufficient.
  - o Comprehensive local offer for care leavers.
  - There was no health support post 19.
  - There was missed opportunities for coproduction with young

people in care and care leavers.

- The Peer Challenge Team developed the following recommendations:
  - Develop a dedicated leaving care strategy and update the sufficiency strategy to create a SMART delivery plan.
  - Develop a business case for the development of a dedicated 16 Plus Service.
  - Review the membership of the Corporate Parenting Partnership Board.
  - Consider the development of an integrated performance data dashboard.
  - Increase the number of young people allocated a personal advisor at age 16.
  - o Improve the quality of pathway plans to ensure consistency.
  - o Improve the effectiveness of engagement with care leavers.
- The service had developed an action plan which focused on implementing the recommendations. The progress of the action plan was discussed, and detail was provided to the Commission on where each action was at currently.
- In relation to the recommendation to develop a dedicated Leaving Care Strategy and update the Sufficiency Strategy to create a SMART delivery plan. The following progress had been made:
  - The identification project resource to drive development and delivery was complete.
  - The undertaking of a care leaver needs analysis was ongoing.
  - The identification of appropriate actions to develop accommodation options was on-going.
  - The implementation of a joint accommodation working group was complete.
  - The engagement of the Corporate Parenting Partnership Board and wider stakeholders to inform the strategy was ongoing.
- In relation to the recommendation to develop a business case, for the development of a dedicated 16 Plus Service, the following progress had been made:
  - This review of the current structure had been completed and was scheduled to be presented to the Directorate Leadership Team shortly.
  - The assessment of the need for additional capacity was complete and awaiting an outcome.
- In relation to the recommendation to review the membership of the Corporate Parenting Partnership Board, this was completed, and the new membership was in place.
- In relation to the recommendation to consider the development of an integrated performance data dashboard, this was on-going.
- The Cabinet Member for CYPS would ensure that the actions would be driven forward and that officers would be held to account.
- In relation to voice and influence and the improvement of the

effectiveness of engagement with care leavers, the following progress had been made:

- The agreement of a more impactful approach to coproduction was on-going and had been incorporated into a review of voice and influence activity.
- The development of a separate Care Leavers Forum was complete.
- The implementation of a dedicated participation resource was on-going and had been incorporated into the review of voice and influence activity.
- In relation to ensuring an increase in the number of young people that would be allocated a Personal Advisor at age 16, this was ongoing.
- In relation to the improvement of the quality of pathway plans, the following progress had been made:
  - Personal Advisors would be provided with specific training on their role. This would include how to develop high quality and meaningful pathway plans. This was on-going, initial training sessions were held on the 10 May and 4 June 2024. This training was additional to the current training offer. Following evaluation of the training with Personal Advisors after the sessions had taken place, further training was planned.

The Chair thanked the relevant officer for the presentation and invited questions, this led to the following points being raised during discussions:

- There were thirteen Personal Advisors in place, all cases would be allocated to Personal Advisors by September 2024.
- Health passports were a suite of documents provided to young people who were leaving care and ready to transition into adulthood. The documents enabled the young people to access GP services, dental practices and to understand their own health history.
- Did not have ability to accommodate all care leavers in Rotherham, there was now more accommodation in Rotherham and therefore more care leavers could be accommodate in the borough and enables them to have a connection to Rotherham.
- The Cabinet Member had visited the services accomodation Hallowgate and Roundabout young person's accomodation. Assurance was provided that the staff at the accomodation were committed to the young people and were available to support the residents 24 hours a day.

**Resolved:-** That the Improving Lives Select Commission:

1) Note the outcomes of the peer challenge and the progress made on the recommendations.

#### 20. WORK PROGRAMME

The Select Commission considered some of the detail of the Work Programme and the following was noted:-

- A scrutiny work programming session had been arranged for the 8<sup>th</sup> August 2024, for Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Commissions.
- The work programme for 2024-2025 would return as a standard agenda item from September meeting onwards.
- It was proposed that at the next meeting in September an update on the SEND Strategy would be included. This would relate to the summary of the consultation period and the proposed strategy, with consultation amendments included.

**Resolved:-** That the Work Programme for the meeting in September 2024 be approved.

# 21. IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - SUB AND PROJECT GROUP UPDATES

Consideration was given to the Scrutiny Review Report relating to Preparation for Adulthood, for Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND).

It was noted the report was a result of the review completed by Members of the Improving Lives Select Commission in February 2024 and the report outlined the proposed recommendations.

**Resolved:-** That recommendations 1 to 3, as listed within the report, be approved and the report be forwarded to Cabinet for consideration and decision.

#### 22. URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business to report.

# Agenda Item 7



Public Report Improving Lives Select Commission

## **Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting**

Improving Lives Select Commission – 17 September 2024

#### **Report Title**

Ofsted Focused Visit to Rotherham's Children's Services

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?

## **Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report**

Nicola Curley – Strategic Director, Children & Young Peoples Service

#### Report Author(s)

Monica Green 01709 822271 or monica.green@rotherham.gov.uk

#### Ward(s) Affected

Borough-Wide

#### **Report Summary**

The report outlines the findings from the Ofsted Focused visit to Rotherham Children's Services on 14<sup>th</sup> & 15<sup>th</sup> May 2024.

#### Recommendations

For Improving Lives Select Commission:

1. To note this information and the progress made.

## **List of Appendices Included**

Appendix 1 Ofsted Focused Visit Summary of Findings Letter

#### **Background Papers**

No

# Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel

No

## **Council Approval Required**

No

#### **Exempt from the Press and Public**

No

Ofsted Focused Visit to Rotherham's Children's Services

## 1. Background

- 1.1 Local Authority Children's Services are regulated by Ofsted.
- 1.2 The Inspection of Local Authority Children's Services (ILACS) system includes:
  - local authorities sharing an annual self-evaluation of the quality and impact of social work practice
  - an annual engagement meeting between our regional representatives and the local authority to review the self-evaluation and to reflect on what is happening in the local authority and inform how they would engage with each other in future
  - our local authority intelligence system (LAIS) which brings data and information into a single record
  - focused visits that look at a specific area of service or cohort of children
  - standard and short inspections where we make judgements using our 4-point scale
  - joint targeted area inspections (JTAI)
- 1.3 Robust performance management and quality assurance processes provide assurance to senior leaders and is used to inform service development. This includes the CYPS Performance Board, chaired by the Director of Children's Services and Assurance Board including work undertaken by the Young Inspectors, the Practice Learning Days (PLDs) and the monthly audit programme. Scrutiny is also provided by Improving Lives Select Commission (ILSC), the Corporate Parenting Partnership Board (CPPB) and Rotherham Safeguarding Children's Partnership (RSCP).
- 1.4 Residential children's homes are also regulated by Ofsted. The Social Care Common Inspection Framework (SCCIF) system focuses on evaluating the impact of care and support on the experiences and progress of children. These inspections are annual.

## 2. Key Issues

- 2.1 On 14<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> May Rotherham received a focused visit as part of the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children's Services (ILACS) framework. There are 7 possible topic headings for a focused visit. This focused visit was under the heading of 'Child in Need and children subject to a child protection plan'.
- 2.2 The Inspectors were Rachel Fairhurst and Catherine Heron. Tracey Metcalfe was the Quality Assurance lead.
- 2.3 The focused visit involved 2 weeks of engagement with Ofsted including consideration of performance management information, quality assurance, case

## Page 19

audits and children's files. This also included 2 days on site in the second week where inspectors held case discussions with social workers and managers, as well as reviewing children's records.

- 2.4 Inspectors evaluated the effectiveness of:
  - performance management
  - management oversight
  - supervision
  - quality assurance
  - continuous professional development of the workforce
- 2.5 Inspectors were positive about their experience in Rotherham during the inspection, praising the timely provision of all requested information and the welcome they had received from friendly staff. The resulting report is reflective of an extremely effective service which is delivering consistently good outcomes for children.
- 2.6 The report was published on 12<sup>th</sup> July 2024 (Appendix 1) and the 'Headline Findings' record that "the response to children who are subject to child-in-need and child protection planning is very effective... Strong corporate support ensures a whole-council approach to understanding children's vulnerability and responding to risk and need."
- 2.7 "Senior leaders and council members are ambitious and aspirational for children who are subject to children in need and child protection planning. There is a 'whole council' response to making vulnerable children a priority."
- 2.8 We have a strong CIN and CP service that appropriately and effectively assesses children and applies the right thresholds to ensure that children are protected, and needs are met. Extensive targeted support and early help underpins services. Partnership services are good and multi-agency staff play an appropriate part at all stages of intervention. When immediate action is required to safeguard children, this takes place swiftly.
- 2.9 To support further improvement Ofsted identified that children's unique needs and individual characteristics could better inform their plans. Senior leaders were already aware of this area for further development following activity to improve the identification of children's identity needs when planning for their future. This is corroborated in the report, "Senior leaders know themselves well. They have a solid understanding and a good line of sight to frontline practice. They know the strengths and areas for improvement in this practice area. This is reflected in their self-assessment." Inspectors did not find any area for improvement in this practice area that senior leaders were not already sighted on.
- 2.10 Action planning following the visit is overseen by senior leaders during change management board with a clear focus on impact monitored via performance management and quality assurance.
- 2.11 The Ofsted ILACS Evaluation criteria and grade descriptors state "The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection" is likely to be judged

outstanding if the response to children and families is consistently good or better and results in sustained improvement to the lives of children, young people and their families."

2.12 The headline findings from the focused visit in May state [our response to children] "is resulting in sustained improvement to the lives of many children and their families."

## 3. Options considered and recommended proposal

3.1 It is not appropriate as this report is for information purposes only.

### 4. Consultation on proposal

4.1 It is not appropriate as this report is for information purposes only.

## 5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

5.1 Children's Services will be due a judgement ILACS visit at some point in 2025. There is also the possibility of an Area SEND Inspection, run jointly by OFSTED and CQC, and a Youth Justice Service Inspection, led by HMIP. More information may become available at next Annual Engagement Meeting which is due around Feb 2025.

## 6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications

6.1 It is not appropriate as this report is for information purposes only.

## 7. Legal Advice and Implications

7.1 It is not appropriate as this report is for information purposes only.

## 8. Human Resources Advice and Implications

8.1 It is not appropriate as this report is for information purposes only.

## 9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

9.1 It is very reassuring to have such positive feedback:

'the response to children who are subject to child-in-need and child protection planning is very effective... Strong corporate support ensures a whole-council approach to understanding children's vulnerability and responding to risk and need."

This puts us in a very strong position for our full ILAC, which is due in the early summer of 2024.

## 10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications

10.1 NA

## 11. Implications for CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions and Climate Change

11.1 NA

## 12. Implications for Partners

12.1 NA

## 13. Risks and Mitigation

## **Accountable Officer(s)**

Nicola Curley, Strategic Director, Children and Young People Service

Approvals obtained on behalf of:

	Name	Date
The Strategic Director with	Nicola Curley –	08/08/24
responsibility for this report	Strategic Director,	
	Children & Young	
	Peoples Service	
Consultation undertaken with the	Please select the	14/08/24
relevant Cabinet Member	relevant Cabinet	
	Member	

Report Author: Monica Green, Assistant Director, Children's Social Care

Monica Green 01709 822271 or monica.green@rotherham.gov.uk This report is published on the Council's website.

This page is intentionally left blank

# Improving Lives Select Commission –Summary Work Programme 2024/25

Chair: Cllr Lyndsay Pitchley Vice- Chair: Cllr Stuart Knight

Governance Advisor: Natasha Aucott Link Officer: Kelly White

The following principles were endorsed by OSMB at its meeting of 5 July 2023 as criteria to long/short list each of the commission's respective priorities:

# Establish as a starting point:

What are the key

#### issues?

• What is the outcome that we want?

#### Agree principles for longlisting:

- Can scrutiny add value or influence?
- Is it being looked at elsewhere?
- · Is it a priority council or community?

#### Developing a consistent shortlisting criteria e.g.

- T: Time: is it the right time, enough resources?
- O: Others: is this duplicating the work of another body?
- P: Performance: can scrutiny make a difference?
- I: Interest what is the interest to the public?
- C: Contribution to the corporate plan

Meeting Date	Agenda Item
18-Jun-24	Introduction to the Improving Lives Select Commission including the following:  • CYPS Performance  • Early Help Strategy  • SEND/ SEND Sufficiency
30-Jul-24	CYPS Performance Report
30-Jul-24	The Local Government Association Care Leavers Peer Review Report and Recommendations     Spotlight Review on Preparation for Adulthood Recommendations Report
17-Sep-24	Ofsted Focused Visit Outcomes
29-Oct-24	•Rotherham Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 2023 - 2024 •Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2023 - 2024
03-Dec-24	<ul> <li>Absences From Education (Elective home education, children missing education, children missing out on education, education other than at school, persistent and severe absence and exclusions)</li> <li>SEND Strategy Update (including a summary of the consultation and proposed Strategy with consultation amendments)</li> </ul>
28-Jan-25	•Rotherham Safeguarding Children's Partnership Update

04-Mar-25	

22-Apr-25	The Corporate Parenting Partnership Board Annual Report 2024 - 2025     Early Help Strategy Update Year 1
Items for Scheduling	
One Adoption South Yorkshire Annual Report 2023 – 2024	Awaiting Date
Radicalisation in school's' update	Awaiting Date
PAUSE Update	Awaiting Date
Parking outside schools - Scrutiny Review	Possible Joint with IPSC - Agenda for Council Meeting on Wednesday 29 November 2023, 2.00 p.m Rotherham Council
School Road safety motion - Scrutiny Review	Possible Joint with IPSC - Agenda for Council Meeting on Wednesday 29 November 2023, 2.00 p.m Rotherham Council
Youth Justice Service Update	Awaiting Date
SEND Strategy Consultation with Improving Lives members.	Workshop scheduled for 21st October 2024.

This page is intentionally left blank